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PRAISE FOR THE FEW


“This is a book about uncomplicated men and motivations . . . that often reads like the screenplay of a reverential Hollywood blockbuster.”

—Washington Post


 



“A vivid, well-researched story . . . [and] a complete picture of the battle itself, with detailed accounts from both sides.”

—San Antonio News Express


 



“[Kershaw’s] tight focus on real people makes war, and war’s inevitable sacrifice, more real, more personal.”

—Roanoke Times


 



“One of the most affecting short histories . . . a rare combination of objectivity concerning what happened and tribute to its subject, the brave fighter pilots.”

—St Petersburg Times


 



“The adventures of the handful of known pilots who volunteered to help Britain before the United States entered the war are recounted in depth and with great humanity. . . . They come alive on the page.”

—Smithsonian Air & Space


 



“With his customary narrative drive, Kershaw spotlights the handful of American pilots who joined the Royal Air Force and its fighter squadrons during the Battle of Britain . . . Using personal vignettes to convey the extraordinary routines of life in the cockpits, in the squadrons, and in England, Kershaw evokes the heroism of these pilots, only one of whom survived the war whose tide they helped turn.”

—Publishers Weekly


 



“A rousing tale of little-known heroes . . . The Few marks Kershaw as a master storyteller.”

—Booklist


 



“[A] fine study of this titanic aerial struggle and the Americans who participated. . . . [Kershaw’s] history hits the mark.”

—Library Journal


 



“A great read.”

—Colorado Springs Independent


 



“Alex Kershaw succeeds brilliantly . . . In Kershaw’s skilled hands, the seven young Americans are portrayed in lively, exciting prose.”

—MSNBC.com
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HIGH FLIGHT



Oh! I have slipped the surly bonds of earth 
And danced the skies on laughter-silvered wings; 
Sunward I’ve climbed, and joined the tumbling mirth 
Of sun-split clouds—and done a hundred things 
You have not dreamed of—wheeled and soared and swung 
High in the sunlit silence. Hov’ring there, 
I’ve chased the shouting wind along, and flung 
My eager craft through footless halls of air. 
Up, up the long, delirious, burning blue 
I’ve topped the wind-swept heights with easy grace 
Where never lark, or even eagle flew— 
And, while with silent lifting mind I’ve trod 
The high untrespassed sanctity of space, 
Put out my hand and touched the face of God.


John Gillespie Magee, Jr. 
Nineteen-year-old American pilot, killed December 11, 1941
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PART ONE

 The Fall of France

This blessed plot, this earth, this realm, this England.

William Shakespeare, Richard II






1

 Soldiers of Fortune


This is the story of some of our countrymen who did not wait to be stabbed in the back. Long before the rest of us realized it, these boys, with that deep wisdom given to the very young, knew that this too, was our war. They were no adventurers, killing for gain. They couldn’t resist the call of their blood; liberty and tolerance and love for freedom had been bred in them.1


 Quentin Reynolds, radio broadcast

 




WINSTON CHURCHILL sat in the back of a black Daimler, dressed in a dark pinstripe suit, late on the afternoon of May 10, 1940. He was on his way to Buckingham Palace, where he would be officially invited by the king to lead a new government. After a decade in the political wilderness, the sixty-five-year-old statesman’s hour had finally arrived: Neville Chamberlain, the conservative prime minister, had stood down that morning, and Churchill had been selected by party bosses as the best man to lead the country in what were bound to be its most trying hours.

That morning, just after dawn, it had been reported that Nazi Germany had launched massive surprise attacks on Luxembourg, Holland, and Belgium and had pierced the French border. More than 1,700 German Luftwaffe bombers had filled the skies above northern Europe, taking so many citizens by surprise that some even waved up at the planes, not seeing the black crosses on the bombers’ fuselages.

As thousands of panzer tanks continued to storm across northern Europe, Churchill accepted the king’s invitation to become prime minister. It was drizzling as he was then driven back to his residence at the British Admiralty. His bodyguard, Inspector William Thompson, was also seated in the Daimler as it passed through the heart of Whitehall. He congratulated his new boss on becoming prime minister, the culmination of more than forty years in Parliament. “I hope it is not too late,” Churchill replied. “I am very much afraid that it is. We can only do our best.”2 To his amazement, Thompson saw that Churchill was on the verge of tears.

 



UNION STATION IN LOS ANGELES was busy, full of passengers bidding farewell to families before boarding trains. Among those holding tickets were two nervous young men: twenty-three-year-old Eugene “Red” Tobin, the son of a real estate broker, who had spent most of his wayward youth in Los Angeles, and twenty-seven-year-old Andrew Mamedoff, a White Russian, inveterate gambler, and womanizer. From a distance, Tobin was the more striking with his flaming red hair and lanky frame.

Both were about to embark on what they knew would be the most exciting and dangerous chapter of their lives. The 8:15 p.m. train would eventually take them to Canada, then on, they hoped, to Europe, to fight against the Luftwaffe. In so doing, they would break several strict neutrality laws and become outlaws in their own country.

At the outbreak of war in 1939, a presidential proclamation had made it illegal for any American citizen to join a warring power’s military and also to “hire someone to go beyond the territorial limits of the United States—to Canada, for example—to enlist in a foreign country’s military.” The penalties were severe: Tobin and Mamedoff had been warned that, if caught, they could be fined ten thousand dollars, jailed for several years, and stripped of their citizenship and passports.

Tobin was leaving behind his girlfriend, a tall Irish beauty named Anne Haring. In California, he could have continued to fly every day in skies clear of Messerschmitts diving out of the sun to kill him. So why  was he now risking everything? There were several reasons. Like Andy Mamedoff, he was certain that the war in Europe would come to America sooner or later, and he didn’t want to be drafted into the army as a grunt when it did. Above all, he was looking to fly the “sweetest little ship” in the world, the Supermarine Spitfire, designed by Englishman Reginald Mitchell, first flown in 1936, and now capable of over 350 mph, three times faster than any plane Tobin had flown: “I just felt I wanted to fly some of these powerful machines . . .”3 But only by risking his neck in someone else’s war would he ever stand a chance of flying the “hottest” machine he had ever set eyes on. The gamble seemed well worth it.

Like so many young Americans in the age of Lindbergh and Earhart, Tobin was obsessed with flying. Nothing else made him feel quite so alive. It was all he had ever wanted to do with his life. And it had enabled him to escape the shadow of his childhood: his earliest memories, other than of marveling at silver biplanes circling lazily above Hollywood, were of watching his mother as she lost a long battle with tuberculosis. Three years later, as an eight-year-old, he had attended an air show and stared in awe as barnstormers performed aerobatics at Roger’s Field, on the outskirts of Los Angeles. “My pappy gave me a dollar and I wandered off toward an airplane, an old Fairchild cabin job,” he recalled. “I told the pilot I wanted to go for a ride and he said, ‘Is it all right with your parents?’ My father’s back was turned, but a man near him swung around and looked at me at that moment and the pilot thought he was my pappy. We popped around the airport and I just knew I was born to fly. I failed practically every year at school from ditching classes and going out to airports. Finally, when I was older, I realized my ambition—I learned to fly. I did my first solo over Hollywood and I flew a great deal over the Sierras.”4 Eventually, he had saved enough money from working as a mechanic to buy his own plane. That had led to glamorous employment with MGM as a pilot ferrying the studio’s stars and other VIPs around California—“a heck of a job.” But it had not satisfied his restless spirit.

It was time to leave. Passengers began to file across Union Station’s terra-cotta and inlaid marble floor and through the exit to the platform where the 8:15 p.m. train was waiting. Tobin and Mamedoff were soon boarding the train. For all they knew, they might never see the Mission Revival splendor of Union Station, or indeed Los Angeles, again. They were now bona fide soldiers of fortune, making their way illegally to fight in a war that their government had done its best to prevent any American from joining.

 



TOBIN AND MAMEDOFF had been hired by America’s most colorful and notorious mercenary, fifty-nine-year-old Colonel Charles Sweeny, friend of Ernest Hemingway and several Latin American revolutionaries, described by The New Yorker that year as a “tall, ruddy, hawk-faced, clipped-voiced man who does not mind his collar button showing.”5 It was Sweeny who had seen to it that discreet notices advertising “opportunities” with certain European air forces had been posted at airfields and had appeared in newspapers around the U.S., and to which Andy Mamedoff and Eugene Tobin had eagerly responded.

As soon as the Nazis had invaded Poland, Sweeny had set about organizing a group of flyers modeled after the legendary Esquadrille Squadron of WWI, a unit of dashing young American pilots who had volunteered to fly with the French Armée de l’Air and tangled above the trenches with the Baron von Richthofen’s Flying Circus. But Sweeny’s plans faced fierce opposition from the State Department and from several politicians, most of them from the Midwest, where there were large communities of German immigrants. “Many obstacles soon cropped up,” he recalled. “The more apparent ones were the Neutrality Law and the attitude of hostility assumed by a large and influential part of the American press. For months I was hounded like a criminal. I began to have a friendly feeling for Baby Face Nelson [Lester J. Gillis, a notorious gangster who was then being hunted by the FBI]. The more real obstacle was the complete apathy of the American people.”6


Wanting to escape the attentions of the FBI, Sweeny had gone to Canada in late 1939. But even though Canada was at war with Germany, this move had provided only a temporary refuge. After just a few weeks, the authorities had started asking tough questions, and then Sweeny had been grilled at length by no less than Canadian Attorney General Frank Murphy. Time was running out if Sweeny was to avoid being deported to the U.S. to face charges of breaking neutrality laws.7 Sweeny had quickly arranged passage to Europe but not before managing to set up a secret network, stretching from Los Angeles and other American cities to Montreal and then via Nova Scotia to France.

As soon as Sweeny had arrived in Europe, the network had been activated. Tobin and Mamedoff had then been contacted at Mines Airfield in Los Angeles by a man involved with Sweeny’s illegal venture. Would they be interested in going to Finland? The Finnish air force needed every pilot it could get as it waged a fierce battle against the invading Soviets, who had forged a notorious pact with the Nazis the summer before. They would be paid all expenses to Helsinki and one hundred dollars a month as long as they lasted.8 “I was certainly the guy to go flying up around the arctic circle,” Tobin later recalled. “I’d seen snow about twice in my life. But flying is flying I told myself. Finland can’t be so different.”

The next day, Tobin had quit his job with MGM and had bought gear for flying in subzero temperatures. Mamedoff had sold his plane. But less than forty-eight hours later, the friends had rued their hasty decisions. “I was back, trying to talk the boss into putting me on the payroll again,” explained Tobin. “Andy was trying to figure out how he could [get] another crate. It seemed that something had happened up there in Finland. There wasn’t a war anymore.”9 In early April 1940, the Finns had been defeated after a bitter and valiant winter campaign. Tobin and Mamedoff would not be going on their great adventure after all. For three days, now unemployed and without planes, they had hung around Mines Airfield, trying to work out what to do next.

They had been too late to fight for a free Finland. But the forces of repression were on the march elsewhere. “There was another war going on,” Tobin recalled. “Perhaps we could get into that one. They say if you go looking for a fight you can always find one.”10 A week later, Tobin and Mamedoff had signed up to join the French Armée de l’Air. Another nameless contact, this time a Frenchman, had then arrived at Mines Airfield and given them each a train ticket to Montreal and “a warm though limp handshake.”11


 



THE 8:15 P.M. CHICAGO TRAIN began to pull out of Union Station. Later that evening of May 10, 1940, Eugene Tobin opened his diary and jotted: “I don’t know what’s going to happen, but it’s sure as hell going to be an adventure.”12 The journey from Los Angeles to Chicago and then to Montreal would take several days, plenty of time for him and Mamedoff to share their anxieties: If they were caught, would they go straight to jail or would Sweeny be able to get them off the hook? And if they did get to Canada without being arrested, how would they get to Europe? Would they fly or take a boat across the Atlantic, where Hitler’s U-boats were busy sinking dozens of ships each month?

The train left California and then headed into the darkness of Nevada. Unlike Tobin, Andy Mamedoff was not leaving loved ones behind. He had no blood ties to the state or, for that matter, to America. He belonged instead to a pitiful diaspora—the million-odd Whites who had been forced to flee Mother Russia when the Bolsheviks had ruthlessly crushed their forces during the Civil War of the early 1920s. Had he and his parents tried to hide in some far-flung corner of Siberia, as Cossacks and others had, they would have been hunted down and killed: Lev Mamedoff, Andy’s father, had been a marked man. It was said that in 1908 he had arrested a Georgian Bolshevik called Iosif Dzhugashvili, later known as Joseph Stalin, in the Caucasus when the future Soviet Union dictator had been nothing but a long-haired petty criminal and rabble-rouser.

California’s clear skies had lured Mamedoff from his previous exile in Thompson, Connecticut, where he had earned a reputation as a foolhardy show-off who had sped around in a flashy Ford convertible, impressing many local girls. Like Tobin, he had not cared much for school, and had been expelled several times from Tourtellotte Memorial High School, where, according to a classmate, he had been the charismatic leader of “a rowdy crew, not necessarily crude, but always looking for action.”13


 



WINSTON CHURCHILL STOOD at the dispatch box in the House of Commons. It was early afternoon on May 13, 1940, as the chamber fell silent and he began his first speech as prime minister by briefing the assembled members on developments in Europe. The news was far from encouraging. The Germans were waging a stunningly successful campaign of blitzkrieg—lightning war—coordinating massed tank attacks with strikes from the air, in particular from a new dive bomber, the Junkers 87, which had V-shaped wings and a siren that wailed as it swooped down on the Allies’ front-line positions. In just three days, thanks in large part to the Luftwaffe, the Germans had swept through territory that had been contested for four years during the Great War of 1914–18. Britain now faced the greatest threat to her survival in a millennium.

Churchill concluded his first speech with words that would set the tone of his oratory in the crucial weeks to come. “I have nothing to offer but blood, toil, tears and sweat. You ask what is our policy? I will say: It is to wage war, by sea, land and air, with all our might and with all the strength that God has given us, to wage war against a monstrous tyranny, never surpassed in the dark, lamentable catalog of human crime. You ask what is our aim? I can answer in one word. Victory, victory at all costs; victory in spite of all terror; victory however long and hard the road may be.”14


 



THE TRAIN FINALLY pulled into a station near the Canadian border. Officials boarded and began to check the papers of occupants in each carriage.

Tobin and Mamedoff waited anxiously.

An official finally stepped into their compartment.

“Where are you boys going, and why?”

“We’re on our way to Montreal to see a cousin who runs a fish hatchery,” lied Tobin.

“Are either of you flyers?”

“Don’t be silly. Do we look like flyers?”

Another official entered and began to check their luggage.

Mamedoff and Tobin tried to appear calm.

The official examined a top layer of clothing but delved no deeper. If he had, he would have discovered goggles and logbooks.

“That’s OK,” he said. “Have a good time and tickle a trout for us.”15


Tobin and Mamedoff had been given instructions to go to the Queen’s Hotel in Montreal, an impressive seven-floor stone building in the city’s center. There they were to ask for letters addressed to them, containing cash and train tickets for the next leg of their trip. They arrived at the hotel late the following afternoon, but there were no letters. They decided in any case to check into the hotel. Sooner or later, they would be contacted.

In his hotel room, Tobin pulled out a piece of stationery from his bedside table and began to write a letter to his father in Los Angeles: “By the time you get this I will be well on my way to France?! Now hang on Pa, it’s not as bad as that. I am going to get six months of the best training possible, and by then I’ll get out (yes I will). The reason I did not tell you before was because I knew you would be against it, and I didn’t want a big argument Pa—honest . . . When I get back I will be a damn good pilot, and will have no trouble getting a job, because I will have something to offer whereas now I’m nothing but a nothing . . . I guarantee you Pa I will not take any unnecessary chances . . . all I want is the training—nothing more. I can’t get in the lousy U.S. Army [Air Corps] so I’ll go to France where I can. This is no ‘foolhardy stunt’—you may think it is but it isn’t . . . your little boy Gene.”16


In the lobby, Tobin and Mamedoff asked a clerk if any other Americans had also asked for envelopes and checked into the hotel. The clerk  pointed to a man seated a few yards away, looking glum and engrossed in an aviation magazine. It was immediately obvious that he was very small: the man’s feet did not even touch the ground.

Tobin’s younger sister, Helen Maher, would later vividly recall her brother’s first encounter with the shortest man ever to fly in the RAF: twenty-six-year-old Vernon Charles Keough. “Gene thought: ‘I wonder whether this is the guy we are supposed to meet?’ The more Gene looked at Keough, the more he thought: ‘I bet that’s him. But he surely can’t fly. He’s too little.’ He kept looking at Keough and Keough kept looking back. And finally Gene said to him, ‘You’re the meanest looking dude I’ve seen in a long time.’”17


That broke the ice. Keough and the other pilots introduced themselves. “I came up from New York expecting to join the French air force, and instead I become a lobby squatter,” said Keough. “My luck sure isn’t getting any better.”

They went to the bar, and Keough, just four foot ten, bought drinks and then told Tobin and Mamedoff they should call him Shorty. He’d been a professional parachute jumper before becoming a pilot.18


A fortnight back, explained Keough, he had borrowed five hundred dollars for a down payment on a new plane. He had then allowed a friend to take it up the very day it had been delivered.

Keough paused. He looked grief-stricken.

“What happened?” asked Tobin.

“The dope goes and cracks it up, landing. About the only thing left is the stick, which he’s still got in his hand when he crawls out. So I joined the French air force to get away from it all. And now this!”19


Tobin ordered more drinks. He liked the look of Shorty, with his wry smile and eyes that didn’t miss a thing, darting about like mice.

Keough had grown up in Brooklyn. By his early twenties, he had been scraping by as a barnstormer. Then he had become one of America’s first skydivers, eventually risking his life in more than five hundred jumps. “I was talked into making my first jump,” Keough would later recall. “I was twenty-four then. It didn’t seem so good at first. I didn’t like the idea of  leaving a perfectly good airplane up there and jumping for no reason at all. Well, I did it at four shows, because the guy I was working for wanted me to. I was so light, you see! Then I found I liked it.”

Keough had often landed in the wrong place and a couple of times so far off course that it had taken several days before his mother learned that he was still alive. As a fellow pilot recalled: “People who came to comfort his mother in Brooklyn were in turn consoled by her calm words: ‘He’ll come back. He always does.’ And he always did.”20 There had been good times: bright and windless summer days and large crowds below. And then there “would be a wet Sunday, after we’d built up a show. Then things wouldn’t be so hot and I would have to eat on the cuff and put my airplane in hock.”21


Over more drinks, Tobin learned that Shorty had also volunteered to fight with the Finns. He didn’t mind now what air force he joined so long as it wasn’t the Luftwaffe.

The Americans were interrupted by a bellhop who handed them the letters they had been promised by their contacts in the States. They ripped them open, discovered train tickets to Halifax in Nova Scotia, knocked back their drinks, and read the instructions accompanying the tickets: “You will take the night train to Halifax. Upon arrival, remain at the station after the other passengers have departed. Discuss flying in a loud voice so our agent can identify you.”22


 



IN LONDON, the long day was also drawing to a close. Before turning in for the night, Winston Churchill met in his rooms at the Admiralty with the American ambassador, Joseph Kennedy. According to Kennedy, Churchill was worried that Italy, under the dictator Mussolini, would soon seize the chance to enter the war, thereby introducing the nightmare scenario for Britain of having to fight on two fronts—in France and in the Mediterranean. It seemed likely that France would fall quickly to the Germans, and then the Luftwaffe would throw everything it had at Britain in a bloody prelude to invasion. “He said that regardless of what Germany does to England and France,” Kennedy cabled President  Roosevelt after the meeting, “England will never give up as long as he remains a power in public life, even if England is burned to the ground. Why, he said, the Government would move to Canada and take the fleet and fight on.”23 In the meantime, counseled Kennedy, it was imperative that America not be dragged into the war: “It seems to me that if we had to protect our lives, we would do better fighting in our own back yard.”24


This was not what Roosevelt wanted to hear, but it was entirely to be expected from Joseph Kennedy, a defeatist for whom the pursuit of profit and power was all-consuming. To remove him from the domestic political scene, where he was touted by some as a possible presidential candidate, President Roosevelt had sent Kennedy and his photogenic family to London in the late thirties. As a blinkered isolationist, Kennedy had provided one-sided reports on the worsening European situation, missives in which Roosevelt now had begun to place little faith, knowing Kennedy was more interested in furthering his political ambitions back in America than in being an effective liaison between the British government and the White House. “I thought my daffodils were yellow until I met Joe Kennedy,” was one British reaction to the future American president’s father.

 



THE TRAIN TO HALIFAX was crowded with Canadian troops. In his diary, Tobin wrote: “Everybody talks about the war. They ask us why Americans haven’t come in the war. We say pay us the dough and we sure will. They look astonished—adieu.”25


Finally, the train pulled into Halifax. It was 1 a.m. A few minutes later, the Americans stood shivering on a platform, discussing flying, as they had been instructed. After a while, a short, swarthy man introduced himself, claiming he was acting on behalf of the French government. They were soon following him along dark and rainy backstreets, ducking into alleys to shake off possible tails, until they climbed the steps leading to an office on the top floor of an abandoned warehouse. Their contact opened an old safe, the kind Tobin had seen in black-and-white westerns, and pulled out three pink cards. “As you cannot travel on an American  passport, owing to the terms of your government’s neutrality laws, I am giving you these documents,” he explained.

The pink cards stated that they were of indeterminate nationality and that they were to be given free passage because they had been recruited to the French Armée de l’Air.

The man then pulled out some bundles of cash.

“This will get you to Paris. You are expected on board the ship at seven o’clock this morning. Bon voyage, mes enfants! Vive la France!”

“Vive la France,” replied Tobin.26


By 7 a.m., they were walking along a wharf toward a freighter. A foul smell filled the air. “It wasn’t the aroma of French perfume,” Tobin recalled. “Just plain old mule. Five hundred of them.”27


They boarded and found that no one spoke English, except for the captain, who said he could take only two of them: Mamedoff and Keough. Tobin would have to cross the Atlantic on the Pierre L. D., another freighter belonging to the same convoy of forty ships bound for France.

 



ACROSS THE ATLANTIC that morning, in his quarters at the British Admiralty, Winston Churchill received a telephone call. It was from his French counterpart, Prime Minister Paul Reynaud, known in France as the “fighting cock” because of his strutting manner and aggression.

“We are beaten,” Reynaud said. “We have lost the battle. The front is broken . . . they are pouring through in great numbers with tanks and armored cars.”

Churchill was shocked. He urged Reynaud to fight on, trying to reassure him that all was not lost. But Reynaud was inconsolable.

“All right,” Churchill concluded, “I will come over to Paris to talk to you. ”28


As preparations were made to fly to Paris, escorted by an RAF fighter squadron, another message came from Reynaud: “The way to Paris lies open. Send all the troops and planes you can.”29


Determined to bolster the French premier, Churchill decided it was time to appeal directly to President Roosevelt for help: “I trust you realize, Mr. President, that the voice and force of the United States may count for nothing if they are withheld too long. You may have a completely subjugated, Nazified Europe established with astonishing swiftness, and the weight may be more than we can bear. All I ask now is that you should proclaim non-belligerency, which would mean that you could help us with everything short of actually engaging armed forces.”30


Churchill went on to list specific things that America could provide immediately: forty or fifty destroyers to help in convoy duties, several hundred new aircraft, and anti-aircraft guns and ammunition. Roosevelt’s reply, the following day, was far from encouraging. The provision of destroyers would, if it became public knowledge, be seized upon by America’s many energized isolationists as a contravention of neutrality laws. Only Congress, Roosevelt pointed out, could authorize such provision, and he was “not certain that it would be wise for the suggestion to be made to the Congress at this moment.”31


There was even more distressing news when Churchill arrived in Paris that afternoon and met with Reynaud and his generals: the Germans, having broken through in northern France, near Sedan, were now driving a fifty-mile-wide wedge between two French armies.

“Where is the strategic reserve?” asked Churchill.

There was no reply from the French commanders.

“Where is the strategic reserve?” Churchill asked again, this time in French.

A senior French general, General Maurice Gamelin, shook his head wearily.

“There is none.”32


Churchill was dumbfounded. How could the French have left themselves so vulnerable?

Gamelin spoke directly to Churchill: The French were suffering setback after setback, above all because the Luftwaffe dominated in the air. If the RAF could provide more fighter squadrons, this critical disadvantage might be overcome. Then the waves of panzers could at least be delayed, if not halted, as they stormed toward Paris.

Churchill promised to provide six more squadrons. But when he arrived back in London that evening, he discovered that Air Chief Marshal Sir Hugh “Stuffy” Dowding, head of Fighter Command, had persuaded the War Cabinet not to send any more squadrons to the

French.33 “If the Home Defense Force is drained away in desperate attempts to remedy the situation in France,” Dowding had argued, “defeat in France will involve the final, complete and irremediable defeat of this country.”34


The French would get no more squadrons. The end was near.

 



THERE HAD NEVER BEEN a train quite like it—Asia, the mobile command post of the second most powerful man in the Third Reich: Reichsmarschall Hermann Göring, head of the Luftwaffe. On May 20, 1940, a security detail led the Italian ambassador, Dino Alfieri, toward the train. It was well camouflaged, heavily fortified with anti-aircraft guns, and parked near a tunnel, close to the German town of Polch, in the event of a sudden attack by the RAF.

The extravagance of Göring’s rolling headquarters seduced Alfieri as soon as he stepped aboard. Asia was specially weighted for the smoothest ride. It had bathing facilities, a cinema, an expansive dining car where Germany’s finest chefs served only the best wines and haute cuisine, and spare carriages to carry art treasures seized from Europe’s finest collections. The man who had formed the Gestapo and organized the first concentration camp, who had then become president of the Reichstag and prime minister of Prussia, had clearly been amply rewarded for almost twenty years of fierce loyalty to Hitler.

Göring smiled as Alfieri greeted him and then beamed as the Italian ambassador presented him with the Collar of Annunziata, the highly coveted personal decoration of the Italian king. Göring had not been so flattered since 1918, when he had been awarded the Orden Pour le Mérite—the Blue Max—upon replacing the legendary Baron von Richthofen as commander of the Flying Circus, Jagdgeschwader 1.35 His voice quavering with emotion, his clear blue eyes sparkling with pleasure, Göring thanked Alfieri in fluent Italian and then squeezed sideways out of the carriage only to return a few minutes later with a phalanx of photographers and the medal at his neck.

Later that day, after Alfieri had been treated to a spectacular luncheon, Göring sat in the shade beneath a clump of trees. Seated opposite him at an oak table were two friends: General Hans Jeschonnek, the forty-three-year-old Luftwaffe chief of staff, and Major Josef “Beppo” Schmid, his head of intelligence.36 Jeschonnek was a highly capable, ruthless Nazi. Schmid, by contrast, was a hopelessly inept sycophant. He could not fly, and he could not understand English, a serious deficiency given his role in assessing the RAF’s capabilities. One of his senior colleagues remembered him bitterly as an “alcoholic . . . with a boxer’s face, without wit or culture, who started his career with entirely false, optimistically exaggerated opinions.”37


Suddenly, an aide rushed over and delivered the news that the French and British were almost surrounded in northern France. All that was required to win the war was a swift coup de grâce. But who should deliver it: The Wehrmacht generals with their columns of panzers, or the Me-109s and Stukas of Hermann Göring’s Luftwaffe?

Göring was quick to his feet.

“This is just the job for the Luftwaffe!” he blustered. “Get me through to the Führer at once.”

Hitler was soon on the line. Göring was at his most confident and persuasive, warning the Führer that he might lose face if he allowed his generals to take credit for finishing off the French and British. The Luftwaffe had been designed precisely for the task at hand; its medium-range bombers, such as the Dornier Do-17Z, the Heinkel He-111, and the Junkers Ju-87B, known as the Stuka, were ideally suited to paralyzing ground forces with terrifying speed.

“Allow the symbol of the new Reich, of the reborn German military, to finish the job,” pleaded Göring. “Pull back Hans von Guderian and  Erwin Rommel’s panzers for a few days. Let the Stukas and Emils [Me-109s] get to work immediately. Leave it to me and the Luftwaffe. I guarantee unconditionally that not a British soldier will escape.”

Hitler liked what he heard. “Go right ahead,” he told Göring.38


The commander of what was thought to be the greatest air force in history thanked Adolf Hitler and bade him good day. Grinning, he then handed over the telephone to his chief of staff, Hans Jeschonnek, who would arrange a timetable and organize the details of the attack with Hitler’s staff.

 



MEANWHILE, Eugene Tobin and his fellow American volunteers were crossing the Atlantic, unaware of the developments in France. That night of May 20, his fourth at sea, a green-gilled Tobin mustered the energy to fill a page in his diary: “I went to the officers’ mess and played some records, both American and French. After listening to the French records, I can understand why they are at war . . . Have ten more days of this, by then supposed to be in Brest (if we’re not torpedoed). Miss the folks at home, especially my little honey [Anne Haring]. But what the hell can I do about it out here in the middle of the drink? The French had better have some good plans after all of this or I’ll start a war of my own.”39


A week into the voyage, an escorting British destroyer dropped depth charges. A U-boat had been detected in the area and Tobin’s boat was farthest from the center of the convoy, wide open to attack. For several hours, the crew manned action stations until finally the captain announced that the immediate danger had passed. The U-boat was one of fifty-seven then operating in the Atlantic and sinking more than fifty thousand tons of shipping a week, threatening to starve Britain into submission. For Rear Admiral Karl Doenitz’s underwater predators, it was the “happy time,” when sinking stragglers such as Tobin’s boat was an almost daily occurrence.

Tobin was soon thoroughly miserable. In his diary, his list of complaints grew longer by the day: bad food, constant drizzle, a head cold, boredom, anxiety over the U-boat threat, and the sullen French crew.  Two weeks into the crossing, however, the weather improved, the convoy splintered, and Tobin finally learned that he was going to disembark the following day, May 31, at St. Nazaire in Brittany.40 The seas became dead calm; other ships in the convoy took on the appearance of ghosts as a heavy mist shrouded the Bay of Biscay. Somewhere in the murk, only a few miles away, loomed the craggy coast of France.
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 The Ace of Spades

Enough words have been exchanged;
 now at last let me see some deeds!

 Goethe, Faust I

 




IT WAS AROUND 11 A.M. on June 5, 1940, when twenty-seven-year-old Luftwaffe Captain Werner Mölders flicked the magneto switch on his Messerschmitt Me-109 and heard the Daimler-Benz engine roaring to life. A handsome man of medium height with deep-set eyes, dark slicked-back hair, and thin lips, he then taxied across the grass runway, and a few minutes later was taking off with his fellow pilots of Jagdgeschwader 53 (JG 53), or as their unit was known to pilots in the Luftwaffe: the Ace of Spades.

A devout Catholic whose sister was a nun, Mölders was resented by some Nazis for openly talking about his faith and their repression of the Catholic Church. Because of his genius for shooting down enemy planes, however, they could not silence him; Reichsmarschall Hermann Göring had made sure of that. He knew Mölders was deeply respected by his fellow pilots and valued him as a brilliant strategist who had reinvented the rules of fighter combat, significantly increasing the kill rate of the Luftwaffe’s aces while making it harder for enemy air forces to shoot them down.

Legend had it that “Vati” (Daddy) Mölders, as he was known to his young pilots, had the best eyesight in the Luftwaffe and could spot an  enemy plane several seconds before even his wingmen, all of whom had 20/20 vision. Incredibly, it was also said that every time he slipped into a cockpit he had to beat down his one weakness: a gut-wrenching fear of heights. Enigmatic indeed: Unlike many of his fellow aces, Mölders took little pleasure in watching his victims tumble to the ground, even though his father had been killed by their forebears in the trenches during the First World War.

The patchwork farms of northern France were now visible below. Mölders opened the throttle on his Me-109 and checked that his flight of four planes, made up of two pairs, was flying as he had instructed: around two hundred yards apart, with each pair’s wingman protecting the flight’s tail. The first recipient of the Knight’s Cross for shooting down twenty enemy planes in the war, he was as usual wearing a fur-collared flying jacket, a leftover from his days as the highest scoring Condor Legion pilot in Spain, where he had killed at least fourteen anti-fascists in as many weeks in 1938.

A few minutes later, Mölders was flying ahead of his wingman in clear skies over Compiègne. Below, the enemy was in panic and retreat. The invasion of France had so far gone amazingly well, better than even Hitler had expected. Britain’s decimated Royal Air Force was now evacuating France lest it be destroyed, leaving Mölders and his fellow pilots to mop up the remnants of the French air force. Two days before, the Ace of Spades had shot down a grand total of eleven French and British planes, and Mölders had made his twenty-second and twenty-third kills: a Hawk H-75A and what he claimed was a Spitfire.

Mölders spied a plane, a Bloch 152. Swooping down, he opened fire and then watched as the French fighter spun down, belching smoke and flame. He did not have to wait long to make his next kill, diving again and this time riddling a Potez 63 with cannon shell and bullets. As he always stressed to his newest pilots, the trick was to strike from altitude, out of the sun—“bouncing” the unsuspecting enemy—and then pull away as fast as possible. Hit and run. Hit and run. That was what the Messerschmitt had been designed for. In a dive it could not be caught.  But in a dogfight, particularly against the RAF’s Spitfire, it could be out-turned. And so, unless it was unavoidable, Mölders never allowed himself to be engaged on equal terms.

Running low on fuel, Mölders led his flight back to base. It was late afternoon when he returned to the skies above France with JG 53. The shadows were lengthening on the grass fields, the sun dipping in the west, when he spotted a formation of enemy planes below. They were the best that the French air force could put up in defense of their homeland—Dewoitine D.520s. Then things started to go wrong: Another German squadron attacked the French planes before Mölders could order his men to pounce. It was obvious that the other squadron’s pilots were novices from the way they opened fire much too soon, thereby alerting the French to their presence. The enemy formation split in all directions, and then the horizon was suddenly full of planes spitting bright tracers. The crucial element of surprise had been lost. Now the Ace of Spades would be in for a real fight.

Mölders hovered above the fray for a while, choosing his moment. Below, three pilots from the overeager German squadron were chasing a solitary French plane without success. It was time to show the neophytes a thing or two. Mölders dived and soon had the French plane in his sights but not close enough to guarantee the kill. Then it dived away sharply. To Mölders’s surprise, the pilot was no dolt, expertly slowing his plane so that Mölders overshot and lost sight of his prey beneath his wing. Mölders scanned the sky, neck swiveling, and then looked into his rear mirror. The Frenchman was now on his tail, firing right at him.

“Damn it!”1


Mölders banked away and climbed hard into the sun, knowing its glare would make it difficult for the enemy to follow and fire accurately. His engine whined with stress as he pulled back his control stick with the throttle wide open. To his relief, he managed to throw off the Frenchman. He looked down—two other Messerschmitts were chasing a French plane. Above him, vapor trails stretched across the bright blue like shredded white ribbons. He checked his instruments—the altimeter  showed three thousand feet. Then disaster struck. Mölders heard a terrible bang. Sparks showered across his cockpit. His throttle was shot to pieces. The controls were useless. His plane began to drop like a stone, nose first. Sub-Lieutenant René Pommier Layrargues, a determined French ace, had taken Mölders completely by surprise, hitting him with a long burst of machine gun fire. Mölders was lucky to still be alive.

“Got to get out.”2


Mölders grabbed the Me-109’s jettison lever then released the canopy and glimpsed it flying away. In one fluid motion, he was out of his harness, free of the seat, free of the plane, and tumbling through the sky.

Pommier Layrargues had meanwhile latched on to another Nazi and squeezed off round after round. Again, he had scored, bullets tearing into his second victim of the day.

Mölders pulled on his rip cord. “Suddenly, I found it in my hand, torn off—a terrible fright went through me,” he recalled. “I reached above me but the chute had already opened. I hung quite peacefully beneath my parachute and searched for my opponent but there were only Me’s circled round me, only Me’s! Quite slowly I drifted toward the ground and that ground was still occupied by the enemy—60 kilometers behind the front, west of Compiègne. I drew my pistol and released the safety, then stuck it into my pants pocket. Beneath me two farmers collected their horses and fled. A brief survey of the terrain revealed a small wood, otherwise meadows everywhere. Suddenly the ground rushed up, I pulled my legs up—touchdown was relatively gentle. I got clear of my chute at once and ran toward the wood. Frenchmen came running from the sides. I got to the edge of the wood—bang! A shot whizzed past my ear. I threw away my fur-lined jacket and ran, gasping for breath, to the other side of the wood.”3


A group of French artillerymen spotted him, gave chase, seized him, and then began to beat him with their rifle butts. Fortunately for Mölders, a French officer shouted for them to stop. Unlike many other German flyers killed or maimed by the French that spring, he suffered only minor injuries and was soon on his way to a French POW camp.

Later that evening, back at base, the young men of JG 53 were stunned when Mölders failed to appear. The loss of their charismatic leader, so early in the war, hit many like an “electric shock.”4 A few days later, the wreckage of his plane was found and a missing-in-action report filed: “A Bf-109 leaving a trail of smoke was observed in this area at a height of 1000 meters; a parachute was seen shortly before the machine went into a spin and crashed. No enemy aircraft was seen to attack. Apparently hit by ground fire or engine failure.”5


What about Mölders’s nemesis, Monsieur Layrargues? From his captors, Werner Mölders learned that one of his pilots from the Ace of Spades had singled out the plane that had attacked him and had shot it down. Monsieur Layrargues had died not long after Mölders’s parachute had opened.

The news of Mölders’s disappearance spread fast throughout the Luftwaffe. Many of Mölders’s acolytes deeply mourned his loss. Others who admired him were not quite so saddened: pilots such as the burly Karl-Hans Mayer of JG 53 and the urbane Adolf Galland of JG 26, fast closing on Mölders’s top score of 23. In the pages of Signal and other Nazi propaganda magazines, the question was soon being asked: Who among them would now become the war’s greatest ace?
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 Prelude


“Look out—here’s another!”
 “Watch that bastard—smack underneath you, man, under you.”
 “He’s burning—I got him, I got him chaps!”
 “Bloody hell, I’ve been hit.” “Jesus, where are they all coming from?”
 “For God’s sake, somebody! . . .”1


 Larry Forrester, Fly for Your Life

 




THE NIGHTMARE CROSSING was almost over. On May 30, 1940, Eugene Tobin stood on deck, watching as the Brittany coastline came into full view. As the last of the morning mist burnt off, he entered the port of St. Nazaire, which was larger than he had expected and crowded with ships painted a drab camouflage gray. Wobbling slightly on sea legs, he was soon wandering the narrow streets leading from the docks to St. Nazaire’s main square. “Man alive,” he noted in his diary, “what a town this is! Everybody wears 1890 clothes, rides bicycles—even old men and women. There’s not a woman under 180 pounds. I bet when they’re born they have to lift them out with cranes.”2


Tobin soon contacted a local official who offered to help him get the correct travel papers so he could take a train to Paris. Unfortunately, it was already late on a Friday, so he would have to wait until Monday  before the travel bureau reopened. Reluctantly, Tobin returned to his ship to wait out the weekend.

Time was fast running out if Tobin was to help save France. Since Tobin had left Halifax, everything had gone Hitler’s way. On May 20, the German panzer columns had reached Abbeville on the Channel coast, completing an encirclement of more than a million British, French, and Belgian troops. French resistance had mostly been pathetic, causing the commander of the British Expeditionary Force, Lord Gort, to snort contemptuously that: “It is no uncommon occurrence to agree with the French to retire at, say, 9 p.m., and find that the French troops had in fact started to pull back at 4 p.m.”3


By May 26, around 250,000 British troops, the rump of what remained of the British Expeditionary Force (BEF), were surrounded in the French port of Dunkirk and being mercilessly attacked by Göring’s Stuka dive-bombers. From the air it seemed that the nearby beaches swarmed with a huge army of ants that rippled with fear as German pilots made strafing runs. The mood was grim, both on the sand dunes where starving, exhausted Tommies waited for rescue, and in London, where even in Churchill’s War Cabinet there was talk of a compromise peace with Hitler.

Churchill ended all such defeatist sentiment, telling his cabinet in an emotionally charged meeting on May 28: “I am convinced that every one of you would rise up and tear me down from my place if I were for one moment to contemplate parley or surrender. If this long island story of ours is to come to an end at last, let it end only when each of us lies choking in his own blood upon the ground.”4 Churchill’s defiance was met with cheers and hurrahs. It was clear that he now had every one of his cabinet firmly on his side. “Quite a number,” he recalled, “seemed to jump from the table and come running to my chair, shouting and patting me on the back . . . had I at this juncture faltered at all in leading the nation I should have been hurled out of office. I am sure that every Minister was ready to be killed quite soon, and have all his family and possessions destroyed, rather than give in.”5


Just as the cabinet had rallied to Churchill, so would the nation. But first, something had to be salvaged from the disaster unfolding at Dunkirk. Senior commanders hoped that perhaps thirty thousand men, a fraction of the British Expeditionary Force, might be saved. In London, Ambassador Kennedy added his own assessment to the general air of doom, cabling President Roosevelt that: “Only a miracle can save the BEF from being wiped out or, as I said yesterday, surrender . . . the English people, while they suspect a terrible situation, really do not realize how bad it is. When they do I don’t know what group they will follow, the do or die or the group that wants a settlement.”6


But all was not yet lost. The seafaring nation was beginning to respond to a call for all available vessels to make the hazardous Channel crossing and evacuate men from the bloodstained beaches. All manner of craft, from private dinghies to Thames tugboats, were headed toward Dunkirk. Above the beaches, Fighter Command’s Spitfire and Hurricane squadrons were also now in action, fighting with unprecedented aggression, many of their pilots furious at the sight of their countrymen being mowed down as they waded in long snaking lines toward rescue boats.

Even veteran Luftwaffe pilots, who had readily strafed columns of refugees in Spain and destroyed Guernica, soon began to sicken of the slaughter. For twenty-four-year-old Captain Paul Temme, flying at three hundred feet above his victims, it was “just unadulterated killing. The beaches were jammed full of soldiers. I went up and down ‘hose-piping.’ It was cold-blooded point-blank murder.”7


The fighting over Dunkirk would be a prelude to the Battle of Britain, and the Luftwaffe and the RAF took careful measure of each other. For the first time, the Germans encountered the full force of Fighter Command, and it was soon clear that the RAF’s Spitfires and Hurricanes were just as lethal as the Messerschmitt Me-109, the Germans’ best fighter. Another thing was quickly obvious: the British pilots were as well disciplined and courageous as their foe in the air, confirming the warning of influential First World War veteran Theo Osterkamp: “Now we fight  ‘The Lords,’ and that is something else again. They are hard fighters and they are good fighters.”8
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